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STATE OF HAWAI’I 

OFFICE OF HAWAIIAN AFFAIRS 
560 NORTH NIMITZ HIGHWAY, SUITE 200 

HONOLULU, HAWAI’I 96817 
 

October 10, 2025 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) No. NHRLF 2025-013 
 

MARKETING AND MEDIA SERVICES 

ADDENDUM 2 – Questions and Answers 

 

1. Does the office listed in the proposal need to be the Offeror’s primary place of business, or may 
it be a secondary or satellite office maintained for this contract?  

Offerors may utilize a secondary or satellite office given it is located in the State of Hawaiʻi 
(preferably the island of Oʻahu) and that the Offeror is able to meet the requirements listed in the 
Scope of Services section, Items IV. Scope of Services and V. Qualifications and Requirements on 
pages 24-26 of the RFP. 

2. Will proposals be considered from applicants who do not currently maintain a physical office in 
Hawai‘i, but who meet all other requirements (telephone/email accessibility, etc.)?  

All proposals will be considered; however, please be aware that proposals are evaluated based on 
specific criteria outlined in our requirements, and submissions that do not fully address these may 
receive lower scores. 

3. If an applicant does not have its own physical location in Hawai‘i but has a formal partnership 
with a local agency that does, would this arrangement satisfy the requirement?  

Yes, provided that the local agency adheres to the specific requirements listed in the Scope of 
Services section, Items IV. Scope of Services and V. Qualifications and Requirements on pages 24-26 
of the RFP. 

4. Does the State of Hawaii offer any programs or certifications to become a recognized or 
accredited women-owned business?  
 
No, there is no State of Hawaii governmental agency providing the certifications. Although the State 
does not directly issue a state-level recognized certification for women-owned businesses; instead, 
businesses in Hawaii can obtain national certifications through organizations like the Women's 
Business Enterprise National Council (WBENC) or apply for federal programs like the Women-
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Owned Small Business (WOSB) Program via the Small Business Administration (SBA). 
 

5. If our project involves international team members (such as virtual assistants), are there any 
restrictions on which countries they can be based in? If there are restrictions, should we still 
include resumes for contractors from those countries, even if they are not classified as 
employees?  
 
There are no State of Hawaii contract restrictions on which countries the international team 
members/virtual assistants can be based in. There are restrictions on the federal government level. 
Federal law places significant restrictions on individuals based in foreign countries. This is primarily 
due to strict regulations concerning national security, data handling, and trade sanctions. The 
countries which are broadly restricted are Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Russia, Crimea, Donetsk, and 
Luhansk. A license from the U.S. Office of Asset Controls is required for services of individuals based 
in these countries. Although this RFP is not for a federal contract and there are no state restrictions, 
it would be recommended that contractors avoid utilizing Team members/virtual assistants from these 
countries. 
 

6. Do you want contractors resumes that work with the agency? 
 
Yes, please include their resumes. 
 

7. Could you clarify whether these quarterly meetings may be conducted virtually, or 
alternatively, whether a subcontractor or employee physically located in Hawaiʻi may be 
assigned to attend these meetings on behalf of the Offeror?  
 
The Native Hawaiian Revolving Loan Fund Program prefers all quarterly meetings to be conducted 
in-person. 
 

8. In Section 2 – Scope of Services, the RFP states that the marketing campaign shall “use 
multiple media outlets to achieve statewide reach and appeal” (including television, radio, 
newspaper, mailers, and social and digital media). Would influencer marketing — using social 
media influencers or content creators — be considered an acceptable form of “multiple media 
outlets” under this requirement? 
 
Yes. 
 

9. In Section 2 – Scope of Services, the RFP references social media as one of the multiple media 
outlets but the primary focus appears to be on media buying. Could you clarify whether the 
organization intends to incorporate organic social media content/management into this 
initiative (outside of paid placements), or should the Offeror include the costs for organic social 
media strategy and execution as part of the media buy section of the proposal?  
 
Please include costs for organic social media as part of the proposal. 
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10. The RFP (NHRLF 2025-013) does not state an ideal or expected budget range for the marketing 
and media services. Could you clarify whether OHA has an ideal budget range or target 
amount in mind for this initiative so Offerors can better structure their price proposals?  
 
At this time, we are not sharing specific budgetary details. While we understand that budget is an 
important consideration, we recommend basing your proposals on your standard pricing and our 
specific requirements. 
 

11. The stated goal of the RFP is to raise awareness and participation in the NHRLF through a 
statewide marketing and media campaign. Could you clarify how OHA will measure success for 
this initiative — for example, is there a target number of individuals, applications, or loan 
disbursements you are hoping to achieve? Additionally, will the achievement of these success 
metrics impact the decision to extend the agreement beyond the initial 12 months?  
 
Success metrics will be defined collaboratively during face-to-face quarterly meetings between the 
Offeror and the NHRLF Manager. 
 

12. In reviewing the qualification requirements, could you clarify the following: If an applicant 
does not currently have employees (only contractors), would that automatically disqualify the 
applicant?  
 
No. 
 

13. Are there any restrictions on a company waiting until after award to hire an employee versus 
initially utilizing contractors to fulfill the scope of work?  
 
No restrictions, but we may ask for current up-front disclosure of contractor staff and their expertise.  
 

14. Does the company need to be fully registered and in good standing with the State of Hawaiʻi 
prior to proposal submission, or can registration and good standing be obtained after award 
but prior to contract execution as a contingency?  
 
Under Hawaiʻi law, you must provide proof of compliance in order to receive a contract worth 
$2,500 or more with state and county government entities in Hawaiʻi. 
 

15. In reviewing the RFP and the current OHA and Native Hawaiian Revolving Loan Fund 
websites, we noticed that while Hawaiʻi’s main state portal includes an Accessibility Statement 
and complies with WCAG 2.0, some OHA and NHRLF pages appear to have accessibility gaps 
identified by common ADA tools. Because paid media campaigns can drive significant traffic 
and platforms like Meta review landing pages for accessibility, could you clarify OHA’s plan 
regarding web accessibility for this initiative? Specifically: • Does OHA plan to add an 
Accessibility Statement or otherwise achieve ADA/WCAG compliance on the relevant sites 
prior to launch of paid advertising?  
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OHA will conduct our own accessibility monitoring and implementation on our websites – it is not the 
responsibility of the Offeror. However, we do not yet have a set timeline for the project’s completion 
and therefore cannot confirm whether the updates will be in place by the campaign launch. 
 

16. In reviewing the RFP and the current OHA and Native Hawaiian Revolving Loan Fund 
websites, we noticed that while Hawaiʻi’s main state portal includes an Accessibility Statement 
and complies with WCAG 2.0, some OHA and NHRLF pages appear to have accessibility gaps 
identified by common ADA tools. Because paid media campaigns can drive significant traffic 
and platforms like Meta review landing pages for accessibility, could you clarify OHA’s plan 
regarding web accessibility for this initiative? Specifically: • Will OHA address accessibility 
internally or via a third-party solution (e.g., overlay plus statement) prior to campaign launch?  
 
OHA will conduct our own accessibility monitoring and implementation on our websites – it is not the 
responsibility of the Offeror. However, we do not yet have a set timeline for the project’s completion 
and therefore cannot confirm whether the updates will be in place by the campaign launch. 
 

17. In reviewing the RFP and the current OHA and Native Hawaiian Revolving Loan Fund 
websites, we noticed that while Hawaiʻi’s main state portal includes an Accessibility Statement 
and complies with WCAG 2.0, some OHA and NHRLF pages appear to have accessibility gaps 
identified by common ADA tools. Because paid media campaigns can drive significant traffic 
and platforms like Meta review landing pages for accessibility, could you clarify OHA’s plan 
regarding web accessibility for this initiative? Specifically: Should this be include in the 
proposal a budget allocation or scope for assisting OHA with accessibility compliance for 
campaign-related landing pages and assets?  
 
OHA will conduct our own accessibility monitoring and implementation on our websites – it is not the 
responsibility of the Offeror. However, we do not yet have a set timeline for the project’s completion 
and therefore cannot confirm whether the updates will be in place by the campaign launch. 
 

18. Travel is not explicitly mentioned in the RFP. Could you clarify whether there are any 
restrictions or guidelines regarding travel-related expenses (such as meetings, on-location 
shoots, or events) that Offerors should consider when preparing their proposal?  
 
Travel expenses are allowable only for NHRLF-approved inter-island travel. Offerors should include 
any such costs in their proposals accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 


